Clinical and cost-effectiveness of pessary selfmanagement versus clinic-based care for pelvic organ prolapse in women: the TOPSY RCT with process evaluation

Carol Bugge,^{1*} Suzanne Hagen,² Andrew Elders,² Helen Mason,³ Kirsteen Goodman,² Melanie Dembinsky,⁴ Lynn Melone,² Catherine Best,⁵ Sarkis Manoukian,³ Lucy Dwyer,^{6,7} Aethele Khunda,⁸ Margaret Graham,⁴ Wael Agur,⁹ Suzanne Breeman,¹⁰ Jane Culverhouse,¹¹ Angela Forrest,¹¹ Mark Forrest,¹⁰ Karen Guerrero,¹² Christine Hemming,¹³ Doreen McClurg,² John Norrie,¹⁴ Ranee Thakar¹⁵ and Rohna Kearney^{6,7}

¹School of Health and Life Sciences, Glasgow Caledonian University, Glasgow, UK ²Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Professions (NMAHP) Research Unit, Glasgow Caledonian University, Glasgow, UK

³Yunus Centre for Social Business and Health, Glasgow Caledonian University, Glasgow, UK

⁴Health Sciences & Sport, University of Stirling, Stirling, UK

⁵Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Professions (NMAHP) Research Unit, Stirling, UK

⁶The Warrell Unit, Saint Mary's Hospital, Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Manchester, UK

⁷Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, School of Medical Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

⁸South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, James Cook University Hospital, Middlesbrough, UK

⁹School of Medicine, Dentistry and Nursing, NHS Ayrshire & Arran, University of Glasgow, Kilmarnock, UK

¹⁰Health Services Research Unit (HSRU), University of Aberdeen, Aberdeen, UK

¹¹Patient and public representative of the TOPSY trial, UK

¹²Department of Urogynaecology, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, Glasgow, UK

¹³Grampian University Hospitals NHS Trust, Aberdeen Maternity Hospital and Aberdeen Royal Infirmary, Aberdeen, UK

¹⁴Usher Institute of Population Health Sciences and Informatics, College of Medicine and Veterinary Medicine, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

¹⁵Croydon Health Services NHS Trust, Croydon University Hospital, Croydon, UK

^{*}Corresponding author Carol.Bugge@gcu.ac.uk

Published May 2024 DOI: 10.3310/NWTB5403

Plain language summary

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of pessary self-management versus clinic-based care for pelvic organ prolapse in women: the TOPSY RCT with process evaluation

 $Health\ Technology\ Assessment\ 2024;\ Vol.\ 28:\ No.\ 23$

DOI: 10.3310/NWTB5403

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

Pelvic organ prolapse is a common and distressing condition experienced by large numbers of women. Prolapse is when the organs that are usually in the pelvis drop down into the vagina. Women experience a feeling of something coming down into the vagina, along with bowel, bladder and sexual problems.

One possible treatment is a vaginal pessary. The pessary is a device that is inserted into the vagina and holds the pelvic organs back in their usual place. Women who use a vaginal pessary usually come back to clinic every 6 months to have their pessary removed and replaced; this is called clinic-based care. However, it is possible for a woman to look after the pessary herself; this is called self-management.

This study compared self-management with clinic-based care. Three hundred and forty women with prolapse took part; 171 received clinic-based care and 169 undertook self-management. Each woman had an equal chance of being in either group. Women in the self-management group received a 30-minute teaching appointment, an information leaflet, a 2-week follow-up telephone call and a telephone number for their local centre. Women in the clinic-based care group returned to clinic as advised by the treating healthcare professional.

Self-management was found to be acceptable. Women self-managed their pessary in ways that suited their lifestyle. After 18 months, there was no difference between the groups in women's quality of life. Women in the self-management group experienced fewer pessary complications than women who received clinic-based care. Self-management costs less to deliver than clinic-based care.

In summary, self-management did not improve women's quality of life more than clinic-based care, but it did lead to women experiencing fewer complications and cost less to deliver in the NHS. The findings support self-management as a treatment pathway for women using a pessary for prolapse.

Health Technology Assessment

ISSN 2046-4924 (Online)

Impact factor: 3.6

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Launched in 1997, *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) has an impact factor of 3.6 and is ranked 32nd (out of 105 titles) in the 'Health Care Sciences & Services' category of the Clarivate 2022 Journal Citation Reports (Science Edition). It is also indexed by MEDLINE, CINAHL (EBSCO Information Services, Ipswich, MA, USA), EMBASE (Elsevier, Amsterdam, the Netherlands), NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, Europe PMC, the Cochrane Library (John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA), INAHTA, the British Nursing Index (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and the Science Citation Index Expanded™ (Clarivate™, Philadelphia, PA, USA).

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full HTA archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health Technology Assessment journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HTA programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Health Technology Assessment* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

HTA programme

Health Technology Assessment (HTA) research is undertaken where some evidence already exists to show that a technology can be effective and this needs to be compared to the current standard intervention to see which works best. Research can evaluate any intervention used in the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of disease, provided the study outcomes lead to findings that have the potential to be of direct benefit to NHS patients. Technologies in this context mean any method used to promote health; prevent and treat disease; and improve rehabilitation or long-term care. They are not confined to new drugs and include any intervention used in the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of disease.

The journal is indexed in NHS Evidence via its abstracts included in MEDLINE and its Technology Assessment Reports inform National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. HTA research is also an important source of evidence for National Screening Committee (NSC) policy decisions.

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HTA programme as award number 16/82/01. The contractual start date was in November 2017. The draft manuscript began editorial review in March 2022 and was accepted for publication in November 2022. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HTA editors and publisher have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HTA programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HTA programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Bugge *et al.* This work was produced by Bugge *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).